
COMMISSION MEETING AGENDA 
 

 

June 12, 2024 
7:00 PM at City of Taylor Mill Municipal Building (5225 Taylor Mill Road) 
 

CALL TO ORDER: 
 
INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: Mayor Bell 
 
MINUTES:  Approval of Minutes from May 8, 2024 Commission Meeting 

  Approval of Minutes from May 22, 2024 Caucus Meeting 

 
GUESTS:  

 
RESIDENT COMMENTS: Residents shall sign in before the meeting and will have five (5) minutes to 

address the commission. 

 
LEGISLATION: 
Ordinance 394 (2nd Reading) – Approving Financing and General Obligation Lease Agreement for Bonding of 

Firehouse Project 
Ordinance 396 (2nd Reading) - FY 2024-2025 Budget Adoption 
Ordinance 397 (1st Reading) – Nuisance and Penalties Amendment 
Ordinance 398 (1st Reading) – Prohibiting the Operation of Any Medical Cannabis Facilities 
Resolution 383 – Municipal Road Aid Cooperative Agreement 2025 
Resolution 384—Agreement with KY Office of Homeland Security (KOHS) for PD Grant 
Resolution 385 – Interlocal Cooperation Agreement with KLC and the Kentucky Bond Corporation 
Resolution 386 – Sponsoring a proposed text amendment by PDS staff for the regulation of medical cannabis 

through zoning 
Resolution 387 – The question of Cannabis Businesses to Operate within the City of Taylor Mill be submitted 

to Voters who are eligible to vote in the regular election 
 
 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS:   
    
NEW BUSINESS:  
 

DEPARTMENT REPORTS:  City Administrator  Legal Counsel  

     City Treasurer   Parks and Recreation 
     Engineering   Police 
     Fire    Public Works 
 



 

 

ANNOUNCEMENTS: Groundbreaking for new fire station, Friday June 14 at 10am 

The next Caucus Meeting will be on June 26, 2024 at 10am 
    The next Commission Meeting will be on July 10, 2024 at 7pm 



 
 

MINUTES 



1 
 

Min050824 

 

City of Taylor Mill 

COMMISSION MEETING 

Wednesday, May 8, 2024 

 

CALL TO ORDER & WELCOME: 

Mayor Bell called the meeting to order at 6:59 p.m. and welcomed those in attendance. 

Mayor Daniel L. Bell, Commissioner Caroline Braden, Commissioner Kreimborg, Commissioner 

Ed Kuehne, Commissioner Dan Murray, City Administrative Officer Brian Haney, and City 

Attorney Jack Gatlin were in attendance. 

INVOCATION/PLEDGE OF ALLEGIANCE: 

Commissioner Braden led the invocation followed by the Pledge of Allegiance.  

APPROVAL OF MINUTES: 

 

April 10, 2024, Commission Meeting 

 

Mayor Bell called for a motion to approve the April 10, 2024, Commission Meeting 

Minutes. Commissioner Murray so moved, with a second from Commissioner Braden. The 

Commission approved by unanimous voice call vote.  

MOTION PASSED 

April 24, 2024, Caucus Meeting 

 

Mayor Bell called for a motion to approve the April 24, 2024, Caucus Meeting Minutes. 

Commissioner Kuehne so moved, with a second from Commissioner Kreimborg. The Commission 

approved by unanimous voice call vote.  

MOTION PASSED 

GUESTS:   

 Mayor Bell invited Senator Chris McDaniel of the Kentucky State Senate to come and 

make a presentation regarding the 2024 legislative session. 

Mayor Bell invited the public to come and speak.  

Stu Bowns of 5400 Shadow Hill Court addressed the Commission. 

Rose Merritt of 866 Robertson Road addressed the Commission. 



2 
 

Jeff Groneck of 6146 Ridgeside Court addressed the Commission. 

Meredith Simpson of 5217 Woodland Drive addressed the Commission. 

 

Mayor Bell invited the Public Works Department employees Director Jerry Jump, Tony 

Hoffman, Brian Delaney, Luke Hoffman, Commissioner Kuehne, and Vice President Tyler Hill 

of the American Public Works Association Kentucky Chapter to come forward for the reading of 

the National Public Works Week Proclamation. Mayor Bell provided the reading of the May 8, 

2024, Proclamation recognizing the Taylor Mill Public Works Department for their work. 

 

LEGISLATION:   

 

Ordinance 396 (First Reading) 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL IN KENTON COUNTY, KENTUCKY, 

ADOPTING A BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL PURSUANT TO K.R.S. 

91A.030 (10) FOR THE FISCAL YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2024, AND ENDING ON 

JUNE 30, 2025, AND PROVIDING THAT NO MONIES SHALL BE EXPENDED BY OR ON 

BEHALF OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE THEREWITH; 

AND PROVIDING THAT NO SINGLE APPROPRIATION AND EXPENDITURE IN 

ACCORDANCE THEREWITH SHALL EXCEED THE SUM OF $2,500.00 WITHOUT THE 

PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE TAYLOR MILL COMMISSION THEREFOR. 

 

City Attorney Jack Gatlin provided the first reading of Ordinance 396 to adopt the budget 

for FY 24-25. 

 

Proclamation 

 

 Mayor Bell called for a motion to approve the National Public Works Week Proclamation 

that was read. Commissioner Murray made a motion with a second from Commissioner Kuehne. 

Commission approved by unanimous vote. 

          MOTION PASSED 

UNFINISHED BUSINESS: None 

 

NEW BUSINESS:  

CAO Haney recommended that the Commission award the fire station project bid to 

Radius Construction. Radius Construction came in as the lowest bidder. Commissioner Murray 

made a motion to accept the low bid and enter into a contract with Radius Construction for the 

construction of the new Taylor Mill Fire Station. Commissioner Braden made a second. The City 

Clerk called the roll. 



3 
 

Commissioner Murray Yes 

Commissioner Braden  Yes 

Commissioner Kreimborg No 

Mayor Bell   Yes 

Commissioner Kuehne No 

 

MOTION PASSED 

CAO Haney recommended that the Commission award the labor bid for the Taylor Creek 

concrete project to the only bidder Earthworks Concrete & Construction, LLC. Earthworks is to 

provide all labor for forming and to pour back street at $4.50 square feet. Mayor Bell called for a 

motion to award the bid to Earthworks Concrete & Construction, LLC. Commissioner Murray 

made a motion with a second from Commissioner Braden. The Commission approved by 

unanimous voice call vote. 

MOTION PASSED 

CAO Haney recommended that the Commission award the concrete supplier bid for the 

Taylor Creek concrete project to the only bidder Ideal Supplies, Inc. The 4,000-pound 

comprehensive strength concrete is $160.00 per cubic yard. Mayor Bell called for a motion to 

award the bid to Ideal Supplies, Inc. Commissioner Kreimborg made a motion with a second 

from Commissioner Kuehne. The Commission approved by unanimous voice call vote. 

MOTION PASSED 

CAO Haney recommended that the Commission approve the proposal for City Attorney 

Jack Gatlin of Gatlin Voelker to continue his legal services to the city for the next three years. 

His new annual compensation will be $37,600.00 annually. Mayor Bell called for a motion to 

approve the contract with Gatlin Voelker for the legal services of Jack Gatlin. Commissioner 

Kreimborg made a motion with a second from Commissioner Kuehne. The Commission 

approved by unanimous voice call vote. 

MOTION PASSED 

CAO Haney recommended that the Commission approve the FY25 accounting services 

with Chamberlin Owen in the amount of $12,000 annually. Mayor Bell called for a motion to 

approve the contract with Chamberlin Owen. Commissioner Murray made a motion with a 

second from Commissioner Braden. The Commission approved by unanimous voice call vote. 

MOTION PASSED 

CAO Haney recommended that the Commission approve the agreement with the City of 

Florence for the use of the Mobile Command Center. Mayor Bell called for a motion to approve 

the agreement with the City of Florence for the use of the Mobile Command Center. 

Commissioner Kreimborg made a motion with a second from Commissioner Kuehne. The 

Commission approved by unanimous voice call vote. 

MOTION PASSED 



4 
 

 

 CAO Haney recommended that the Commission approve the use of the back field of 

Pride Park by Center Point Church on October 26, 2024 for them to host a fall festival. Mayor 

Bell called for a motion to approve the use of Pride Park by Center Point Church. Commissioner 

Murray made a motion with a second from Commissioner Braden. The Commission approved by 

unanimous voice call vote. 

MOTION PASSED 

 CAO Haney recommended that the Commission approve the $331.67 reimbursement to 

Rodney Eldridge of Oakland Drive for an SD1 Cost Share Project. Mayor Bell called for a 

motion to approve the reimbursement of a total of $331.67 to Rodney Eldridge. Commissioner 

Murray made a motion with a second from Commissioner Braden. The Commission approved by 

unanimous voice call vote. 

MOTION PASSED 

   

DEPARTMENT REPORTS 

 The Commission reviewed reports from the following staff members: City Administrator, 

Treasurer, Engineering, Fire/EMS, Legal Counsel, Parks and Recreation, Public Works, and 

Police.  

 

There being no further business, Mayor Bell called for a motion to adjourn. Commissioner 

Murray so moved, with a second from Commissioner Kuehne to adjourn the meeting. The motion 

passed with the unanimous approval of the Commission, the time being 8:05 p.m. 

                                                                                                                      MOTION PASSED 

The next Commission Meeting will be on Wednesday, June 12, 2024, at 7:00 p.m. at the 

City of Taylor Mill Municipal Building located at 5225 Taylor Mill Road. 

APPROVED: 

 

______________________________ 

Daniel L. Bell, Mayor 

 

 

ATTEST:  

 

 

_________________________________ 

Kristy Webb, City Clerk  

Date: _____________________ 



1 
 

Min052224 

 

City of Taylor Mill 

CAUCUS MEETING 

Wednesday, May 22, 2024 

 

CALL TO ORDER & WELCOME: 

Mayor Bell called the meeting to order at 9:59 a.m. and welcomed those in attendance. 

Mayor Daniel L. Bell, Commissioner Caroline Braden, Commissioner Mark Kreimborg, 

Commissioner Ed Kuehne, Commissioner Dan Murray, City Administrative Officer Brian Haney, 

and City Attorney Jack Gatlin were in attendance.  

Mayor Bell invited Sharmili Reddy with the Planning and Development Services of Kenton 

County to come and make a presentation to the Commission regarding Medical Cannabis. 

Mayor Bell invited Pat Donovan with Heritage Bank to make a presentation on funding 

options with Heritage Bank for the construction of the new fire station. 

Mayor Bell invited Steven Pickarski of KLC and Bryan Skinner with RSA Advisors to 

make a presentation on the bonding option through KLC for the funding of the new fire station. 

DISCUSSIONS: 

CAO Haney led the discussion on medical cannabis facilities in the City. 

CAO Haney led the discussion on a nuisance ordinance to address issues like culverts that are 

blocked. 

CAO Haney led the discussion as to what direction the Commission wants to go in terms of a lease 

loan from a bank versus a bond issuance. 

ADJOURNMENT 

 

There being no further business to discuss, Mayor Bell called for a motion to adjourn. 

Commissioner Kreimborg so moved, with a second from Commissioner Kuehne to adjourn the 

caucus meeting. Through a voice call vote, the motion passed with unanimous approval of the 

Commission, the time being 11:32 a.m. 

MOTION PASSED 

The next Commission Meeting will be Wednesday, June 12, 2024, at 7:00 p.m. at the City 

of Taylor Mill Municipal Building located at 5225 Taylor Mill Road. 



2 
 

APPROVED: 

 

______________________________ 

Daniel L. Bell, Mayor 

ATTEST:  

 

 

_________________________________ 

Kristy Webb, City Clerk  

Date: _____________________ 



 
 

LEGISLATION 



ORDINANCE NO. __________ 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY APPROVING 

A LEASE AGREEMENT FOR THE FINANCING OF A PROJECT; PROVIDING 

FOR THE PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE LEASE; ESTABLISHING 

A SINKING FUND; AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF VARIOUS 

DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE LEASE. 

WHEREAS, as provided by Sections 65.940 to 65.956, inclusive, of the Kentucky Revised 

Statutes, the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky, a municipal corporation and political subdivision of the 

Commonwealth of Kentucky (the “Lessee”), has the power to enter into lease agreements with any 

person, with or without the option to purchase, in order to provide for the use of property for public 

purposes; and 

WHEREAS, the Lessee has found and determined, and hereby further finds and determines, 

that the Lessee is in need of the Project, as defined in the hereinafter described Lease; and 

WHEREAS, the Lessee has found and determined, and hereby further finds and determines, 

that it will be in the best interests of the Lessee to enter into a Lease Agreement (the “Lease”) with 

the Kentucky Bond Corporation, a nonprofit corporation incorporated and existing under the laws of 

the Commonwealth of Kentucky (the “Lessor”), for the leasing by the Lessee from the Lessor of the 

Project. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY, 

AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Affirmation of Recitals. It is hereby found, determined, and declared that the 

facts, declarations, and definitions set forth in the recitals of this Ordinance are all true and correct, 

and such facts, declarations, and definitions are hereby affirmed, adopted, and incorporated as a part 

of this Ordinance, and all acts described in the recitals of this Ordinance are hereby ratified. 

Section 2. Approval, Authorization, Necessity, and Purpose of the Lease. The Lessee 

hereby approves the Lease, in substantially the form presented to the Lessee. It is hereby found and 

determined that the Project identified in the Lease is property to be used for public purposes. It is 

hereby further found and determined that it is necessary and desirable and in the best interests of the 

Lessee to enter into the Lease for the purposes specified therein, and the execution and delivery of 

the Lease by the Lessee and all of the representations, certifications, and other matters contained in 

the documents to be executed and delivered in connection with the Lease, or as may be required by 

the Lessor before the delivery of the Lease, are hereby approved, ratified, and confirmed. The Mayor 

and the City Clerk of the Lessee are each hereby authorized to execute, in the name and on behalf of 

the Lessee, the Lease and any other documents, agreements, or certifications that may be necessary 

in order to accomplish the transaction contemplated by the Lease. 

Section 3. General Obligation Pledge. In accordance with the Constitution and laws of 

the Commonwealth of Kentucky, including, particularly, Sections 66.011 to 66.191, inclusive, of the 

Kentucky Revised Statutes, as amended (the “General Obligation Act”), the obligation of the Lessee 

to pay the Lease Rental Payments under (and as defined in) the Lease shall constitute a full general 

obligation of the Lessee, and the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the Lessee are hereby pledged 

kwebb
Typewritten Text
394

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text



2 

for the prompt payment of such Lease Rental Payments. During the period the Lease is outstanding, 

there shall be and there hereby is levied, annually, on all taxable property in the Lessee, in addition 

to all other taxes, without limitation as to rate, a direct tax in an amount sufficient to pay such Lease 

Rental Payments as and when due and payable, it being hereby found and determined that the current 

tax rates of the Lessee are within all applicable limitations. The tax shall be, and hereby is, ordered 

to be computed, certified, levied, and extended upon the tax duplicate, and shall be collected by the 

same officers, in the same manner, and at the same time that taxes for general purposes for each of 

the years are certified, extended, and collected. The tax shall be placed before and in preference to 

all other items and for the full amount thereof; provided, however, that in each year, to the extent that 

any other lawfully available funds of the Lessee are available for the payment of such Lease Rental 

Payments and are appropriated for such purpose, the amount of such tax on all taxable property in the 

Lessee shall be reduced by the amount of such other funds so available and appropriated. 

Section 4. Establishment of Sinking Fund. There is hereby established a Sinking Fund 

for the Lessee (the “Sinking Fund”), which shall be continued and maintained as long as the Lease is 

outstanding. The funds derived from the tax levy required by Section 3 hereof and any other lawfully 

available funds of the Lessee shall be deposited into the Sinking Fund and, together with the interest 

collected on the same, are hereby irrevocably pledged for the payment of the principal of and interest 

on all bonds issued by the Lessee under the General Obligation Act and all Tax-Supported Leases, 

as defined in the General Obligation Act, including the Lease, as and when the same become due and 

payable. The Lessee shall transfer the funds on deposit in the Sinking Fund to the Lessor at the times 

and in the amounts required by Section 9 of the Lease. 

Section 5. Severability. If any section, paragraph, or provision of this Ordinance shall 

be determined by a court of competent jurisdiction to be invalid or unenforceable for any reason, the 

invalidity or unenforceability of such section, paragraph, or provision shall not affect any remaining 

sections, paragraphs, or provisions of this Ordinance. 

Section 6. Open Meetings Compliance. The Lessee hereby finds and determines that all 

formal actions relating to the adoption of this Ordinance and the execution and delivery of the Lease 

were taken in open meetings of the Board of Commissioners of the Lessee, and that all deliberations 

of the Board of Commissioners of the Lessee and of its committees, if any, which resulted in such 

formal actions were held in meetings open to the public, in full compliance with all applicable legal 

requirements, including Sections 61.810 to 61.850, inclusive, of the Kentucky Revised Statutes. 

Section 7. Conflicts. All prior ordinances, resolutions, or orders of the Lessee, or parts 

thereof, that conflict with the provisions of this Ordinance are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby 

repealed, and the provisions of this Ordinance shall prevail and be given effect. 

Section 8. Effective Date. This Ordinance shall become effective immediately upon the 

adoption and publication of a summary hereof, as provided by law. 

[Signature page to follow]



S-1 

SIGNATURE PAGE TO ORDINANCE

INTRODUCED, SECONDED, AND ADOPTED, at a duly convened meeting of the Board 

of Commissioners of the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky held on _______________________, 20__, 

after first reading held on _______________________, 20__, signed by the Mayor, attested by the City 

Clerk, and filed and indexed as provided by law. 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY 

By:  

Mayor 

Attest:  

By:  

City Clerk 

CERTIFICATION 

I, the undersigned, hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting City Clerk of the 

City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky, and as City Clerk, I hereby further certify that the foregoing is a true, 

correct, and complete copy of an Ordinance duly adopted by the Board of Commissioners of the City 

at a duly convened meeting held on ____________________, 20__, signed by the Mayor, and duly 

filed, recorded, and indexed in my office and now in full force and effect, and that all action taken 

by the City in connection with the Ordinance was in compliance with all applicable requirements of 

the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, all as appears from the official records of the City in 

my possession and under my control. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this ___________________, 20__. 

City Clerk 

kwebb
Typewritten Text
Daniel L. Bell, Mayor

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text
Kristy Webb, City Clerk

kwebb
Typewritten Text



SUMMARY OF ORDINANCE 

At meetings held on [First Reading Date], and [Adoption Date], the Board of 

Commissioners of the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky (referred to herein as the “Lessee”) adopted 

an ordinance (the “Ordinance”) titled as follows: 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY APPROVING 

A LEASE AGREEMENT FOR THE FINANCING OF A PROJECT; PROVIDING 

FOR THE PAYMENT OF AND SECURITY FOR THE LEASE; ESTABLISHING 

A SINKING FUND; AND AUTHORIZING THE EXECUTION OF VARIOUS 

DOCUMENTS RELATED TO THE LEASE. 

The Ordinance provides for the approval of a lease agreement (the “Lease”) to be entered 

into by the Lessee and the Kentucky Bond Corporation (the “Lessor”) for the purpose of financing 

certain public improvements for the Lessee. The Ordinance also contains provisions providing for 

(i) a general obligation pledge of the Lessee to levy and assess sufficient taxes to comply with its 

obligation to pay lease rental payments to the Lessor under the Lease, and (ii) the creation of a sinking 

fund to be pledged as further security for the payment of such lease rental payments and certain 

other obligations of the Lessee. As required by KRS Section 83A.060, the section of the Ordinance 

relating to the Lessee’s pledge to levy and assess a tax to pay the obligations under the Lease is set 

forth in its entirety: 

“Section 3. General Obligation Pledge. In accordance with the 

Constitution and laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, including, particularly, 

Sections 66.011 to 66.191, inclusive, of the Kentucky Revised Statutes, as amended 

(the “General Obligation Act”), the obligation of the Lessee to pay the Lease Rental 

Payments under (and as defined in) the Lease shall constitute a full general 

obligation of the Lessee, and the full faith, credit, and taxing power of the Lessee 

are hereby pledged for the prompt payment of such Lease Rental Payments. During 

the period the Lease is outstanding, there shall be and there hereby is levied, 

annually, on all taxable property in the Lessee, in addition to all other taxes, without 

limitation as to rate, a direct tax in an amount sufficient to pay such Lease Rental 

Payments as and when due and payable, it being hereby found and determined that 

the current tax rates of the Lessee are within all applicable limitations. The tax shall 

be, and hereby is, ordered to be computed, certified, levied, and extended upon the 

tax duplicate, and shall be collected by the same officers, in the same manner, and 

at the same time that taxes for general purposes for each of the years are certified, 

extended, and collected. The tax shall be placed before and in preference to all other 

items and for the full amount thereof; provided, however, that in each year, to the 

extent that any other lawfully available funds of the Lessee are available for the 

payment of such Lease Rental Payments and are appropriated for such purpose, the 

amount of such tax on all taxable property in the Lessee shall be reduced by the 

amount of such other funds so available and appropriated.” 

The undersigned, as the City Clerk of the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky, hereby certifies 

that the Ordinance summarized herein was approved by the Board of Commissioners of the Lessee 

for first reading on [First Reading Date], and for second reading on [Adoption Date], and was 



further approved for publication following adoption, according to law. A complete copy of the 

Ordinance may be reviewed at the office of the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky. 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY 

By: /s/ Kristy Webb

City Clerk 

CERTIFICATION 

The undersigned, an attorney licensed to practice law in the Commonwealth of Kentucky, 

hereby certifies that the foregoing Notice of Adoption and Summary of Ordinance of the City of 

Taylor Mill, Kentucky, was prepared by the undersigned and constitutes a general summary of the 

essential provisions of such Ordinance, reference to the full text of which is hereby made for a 

complete statement of its provisions and terms. 

/s/ Callie A. Kidwell, Esq. 

Dinsmore & Shohl LLP 

Louisville, Kentucky 



Page 1 of 2 

 

ORDINANCE NO. 396 (06-12-24) 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL IN KENTON 

COUNTY, KENTUCKY, ADOPTING A BUDGET FOR THE CITY OF 

TAYLOR MILL PURSUANT TO K.R.S. 91A.030 (10) FOR THE FISCAL 

YEAR BEGINNING JULY 1, 2024, AND ENDING ON JUNE 30, 2025, AND 

PROVIDING THAT NO MONIES SHALL BE EXPENDED BY OR ON 

BEHALF OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL EXCEPT IN ACCORDANCE 

THEREWITH; AND PROVIDING THAT NO SINGLE APPROPRIATION 

AND EXPENDITURE IN ACCORDANCE THEREWITH SHALL EXCEED 

THE SUM OF $2,500.00 WITHOUT THE PRIOR APPROVAL OF THE 

TAYLOR MILL COMMISSION THEREFOR. 

 

BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, IN KENTON COUNTY 

KENTUCKY, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1.0 — Budget Adoption 

Pursuant to the requirement of K.R.S. 91A.030 (10) the City of Taylor Mill shall 

during the fiscal year beginning on July 1, 2024, and ending on June 30, 2025, operate and be 

operated pursuant to the budget attached hereto and made a part hereof by reference, and no 

monies shall be expended by or on behalf of the City of Taylor Mill except in accordance 

therewith, and no single appropriation and expenditure in accordance therewith shall exceed 

the sum of $2,500.00 without prior approval of the Taylor Mill Commission therefor.  

Section 2.0 — Provisions Severable 

The provisions of this ordinance are severable; and the invalidity of any provision of this 

ordinance shall not affect the validity of any other provisions thereof; and such other provisions 

shall remain in full force and effect as long as they remain valid in the absence of those provisions 

determined to be invalid. 

Section 3.0 — Conflicting Ordinances Repealed 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with the provisions of this ordinance are 

hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict. 

Section 4.0 — Effective Date  

This ordinance shall be effective as soon as possible according to law. 

Section 5.0 — Publication  

This ordinance shall be published in summary pursuant to K.R.S. 83A.060 (9).    



Page 2 of 2 

 

 

City of Taylor Mill 

        Kenton County, Kentucky 

 

           

 ______________________________ 

DANIEL L. BELL, Mayor   

 

 ______________________________ 

 Date 

 
 
 
 
ATTEST: 
 

 

 

________________________________ 

KRISTY WEBB, City Clerk 

 

First Reading: 05/05/2024 

Second Reading: 06/12/2024 

Publication Date: _________________ 

 
 

 

 

 

 





ORDINANCE NO. 397 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, IN KENTON 

COUNTY, KENTUCKY, AMENDING SECTION 93.03 and 

SECTION 93.99 OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL CODE OF 

ORDINANCES RELATED TO NUISANCES AND RELATED 

PENALTIES  

 

 WHEREAS, the City of Taylor Mill has observed the need to update and clarify 

regulations pertaining to nuisances, including but not limited to, the maintenance and 

obstruction caused by trees, shrubbery, and other elements; 

 

 WHEREAS, the City recognizes that obstructive growth and debris can impede 

the functionality of streets, sidewalks, and drainage systems, necessitating clear and 

enforceable guidelines. 

 

 WHEREAS, the City also wants to modify the penalties for nuisances;  

 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY COMMISSION OF 

THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, IN KENTON COUNTY, KENTUCKY, AS 

FOLLOWS: 

 

(Strikethrough portions are to be deleted; underlined portions are to be added as required 

by KRS 83A.060(3)) 

 

 

Section 1.0 - CERTAIN CONDITIONS DECLARED A NUISANCE. 

 

   It shall be unlawful for the owner, occupant, or person having control or management of 

any land within the city to permit a public nuisance to develop thereon. The following 

conditions are declared to be public nuisances: 

 

(A) Dangerous trees or stacks adjoining street. Any tree, stack, or other object standing 

in such a condition that it will, if the condition is allowed to continue, endanger the 

life, limb, or property of, or cause hurt, damage, or injury to persons or property 

upon the public streets or public ways adjacent thereto, by the falling thereof or of 

parts thereof. 

 

(B) Accumulation of rubbish. An accumulation on any premises of filth, refuse, trash, 

garbage, or other waste material which endangers the public health, welfare, or 

safety, or materially interferes with the peaceful enjoyment by owners or occupants 

of adjacent property because of the danger that it will catch or communicate fire, 

attract and propagate vermin, rodents, or insects, or blow rubbish into any street, 

sidewalk, or property of another. 

 



(C) Noxious odors or smoke. Emission into the surrounding atmosphere of odor, dust, 

smoke, or other matter which renders ordinary use or physical occupation of other 

property in the vicinity uncomfortable or impossible. It shall also be unlawful for 

any furnace, incinerator, or heating unit to emit smoke, soot, or ashes of a kind or 

degree which could damage property or constitute a health hazard to the people of 

the city. 

 

(D) Noise. It shall be unlawful for any person, firm, or corporation to operate or cause 

to be operated any whistle, rattle, bell, gong, clapper, hammer, drum, horn, player 

piano, radio, calliope, phonograph, or other sound-producing or sound-amplifying 

instrument, or by calling, shouting, or in any other way or manner create noise or 

sound in such a manner as to disturb the peace and quiet of a neighborhood or to 

interfere with the transaction of business or other ordinary pursuits. Nothing herein 

shall be construed to affect the usual and reasonable operation of railroads, electric 

railways, or motor buses; prohibit the reasonable use of automobiles and ordinary 

noises attendant thereto; athletic contests; or lawful public meetings, parades, or 

celebrations.  

 

(E) Storage of explosives. The storage of explosive material which creates a safety 

hazard to other property or persons in the vicinity. 

 

(F) Open wells. The maintenance of any open, uncovered, or insecurely covered cistern, 

cellar, well, pit, excavation, or vault situated upon private premises in any open or 

unfenced lot or place. 

 

(G) [Trees and shrubbery obstructing streets, sidewalks, and drainage. The growing and 

maintenance of trees or shrubbery which in any way interferes with the use, 

construction, or maintenance of streets or sidewalks, causes injury to streets or 

sidewalks, or constitutes an obstruction to drainage.] Obstructions to streets, 

sidewalks, and drainage. Property owners shall not obstruct streets, sidewalks or 

drainage in any way.  All trees, shrubbery, or other naturally occurring or 

unintentionally placed elements that interfere with the use, construction, or 

maintenance of streets, sidewalks, drainage or neighboring property shall be 

removed. 

 

(H) Keeping of animals. The failure to keep an animal's pen, yard, lot, or other enclosure 

in a sanitary condition and free from preventable offensive odors. 

 

(I) Junk; scrap metal; motor vehicles. The storage of motor vehicles in an inoperative 

condition, motor vehicles unfit for further use, automobile parts, or scrap metal 

within the city limits except on premises authorized by the city for such purposes. 

 

 

 

 

 



SECTION 3.0 – PENALTY PROVISIONS 

 

§ 93.99 PENALTY. 

 

[  (A)   Whoever violates any provision of this chapter shall be guilty of a misdemeanor 

and fined not less than $10 nor more than $500 for each offense. Each day's continued 

violation shall constitute a separate offense. 

   (B)   Each violation and every other failure to comply with the provisions of § 93.09 shall 

be a misdemeanor; and each day of the continuation thereof shall be a separate and distinct 

offense for which: 

 

(1) Everybody convicted thereof in a court of competent jurisdiction shall be 

sentenced to pay a criminal fine not to exceed the maximum amount of $500 as 

set forth in KRS 534.050 (2)(a) or a term of imprisonment not to exceed the 

maximum period of 12 months as set forth in KRS 532.090 (1), or both; and 

 

(2) The offender shall be subject to a civil penalty of $100 plus the costs of collection, 

including, without limitation, court costs and reasonable attorney fees for each 

offense, which shall be recovered by the City of Erlanger in a civil action in the 

nature of debt if not paid by the offender within 30 days after citation for the 

violation or other failure to comply with the provisions of § 93.09.] 

 

(A) Civil offense. Each separate violation of this chapter constitutes a civil offense; and, 

pursuant to the requirements of KRS 65.8808, the penalties to be imposed upon 

persons determined to have violated this chapter are hereby established as follows: 

 

      (1)   The specific civil fine that shall be imposed for each separate violation of this 

chapter in the event that a citation for that violation is not contested is hereby established 

at $100 for a first violation, $250 for a second occurrence of the same violation, and $500 

for the third and each subsequent 

occurrence of the same violation, plus the costs of collection, including, without limitation, 

court costs and attorney fees approved by the City Council and City Administrator on a 

case-by-case basis. 

 

(3) The maximum civil fine that may be imposed for each separate violation of this 

chapter is hereby established at $500 for a first violation, $750 for a second 

occurrence of the same violation, and $1,000 for the third and each subsequent 

occurrence of the same violation plus the costs of collection, including, without 

limitation, court costs and attorney fees. 

 

   (B)   Criminal offense. Each violation of this chapter shall be a misdemeanor for which 

everybody convicted thereof in a court of competent jurisdiction shall be sentenced to pay 

a criminal fine not to exceed the maximum amount of $500 as set forth in KRS 

534.050(2)(a) or a term of imprisonment not to exceed the maximum period of 12 months 

as set forth in KRS 532.090(1), or both. 

 

https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/taylormill/latest/taylormill_ky/0-0-0-2483#JD_93.09
https://codelibrary.amlegal.com/codes/taylormill/latest/taylormill_ky/0-0-0-2483#JD_93.09


 

SECTION 4.0 - PROVISIONS SEVERABLE 

 

 Should any section or part of any section or any provision of this Ordinance be 

declared invalid by a Court of competent jurisdiction, or for any reason, such declaration 

shall not invalidate, or adversely affect, the remainder of this Ordinance. 

 

SECTION 5.0 - CONFLICTING ORDINANCES REPEALED 

 

 Ordinances 177 and all other ordinances or parts or ordinances in conflict with the 

provisions of this ordinance are hereby repealed to the extent of such conflict.  

 

SECTION 6.0 - EFFECTIVE DATE 

 That this Ordinance shall take effect and be in full force when passed, published, 

and recorded according to the law. 

 

SECTION 7.0 - PUBLICATION 

 This ordinance shall be published pursuant to K.R.S. 424.145  

 

 

    APPROVED: ____________________________________ 

      Daniel L. Bell, Mayor 

 

      ____________________________________ 

      Date 

 

ATTEST: 

 

_________________________                                                                                      

Kristy Webb, City Clerk 

First Reading: 06/12/2024 

Second Reading:____________ 

Publication: _________________    

 



ORDINANCE 398 

 

AN ORDINANCE OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, IN KENTON 

COUNTY, KENTUCKY, PROHIBITING THE OPERATION OF ANY 

MEDICAL CANNABIS FACILITIES IN THE CITY AS PERMITTED BY 

KRS 218B.130. 

 

WHEREAS, the Commonwealth of Kentucky has adopted KRS 218B.010, et. seq., 

providing for the legalization of the use of medical cannabis and the operation of medical cannabis 

facilities in the Commonwealth pursuant to the terms and conditions of said state law, which 

statutes inter alia contain KRS 218B.130 which allows local governments like this City to prohibit 

all cannabis business operations within its territories through passage of an ordinance; and 

WHEREAS, smoking cannabis, even for medical purposes, can have adverse health 

effects, particularly on the respiratory system; and the long-term effects of cannabis use, especially 

on developing brains, are not yet fully understood; and 

WHEREAS, legalizing cannabis for medical use could lead to increased recreational use 

and abuse, especially among young people; and 

WHEREAS, using medical cannabis could serve as a gateway to using harder drugs; 

individuals who start using cannabis for medical purposes might be more likely to experiment with 

other, more harmful substances; and 

WHEREAS, the psychoactive effects of cannabis, particularly THC, impair cognitive 

function and could potentially pose risks, such as impaired driving or operating heavy machinery; 

and 

WHEREAS, the operation of even-legal medical cannabis facilities create complex legal 

and regulatory challenges for law enforcement, healthcare providers, and policymakers, leading to 

difficulties in enforcement and compliance; and 

WHEREAS, medical cannabis goes against our City’s societal norms or cultural values, 

as cannabis use is still stigmatized; and  

WHEREAS, many still question the efficacy of cannabis as a medical treatment; more 

research is needed to establish its effectiveness for various conditions and symptoms; and 

WHEREAS, there are already approved pharmaceutical drugs available to treat many of 

the conditions for which medical cannabis is proposed as a remedy; these alternatives should be 

utilized instead; and 

WHEREAS, federal law still prohibits its use, and so conflicts between local, state and 

federal regulations could potentially lead to legal challenges and uncertainties; 



WHEREAS, for the reasons stated above, which the City Commission finds as true and 

accurate, the City Commission hereby determines it to be in the interest of public health, safety 

and welfare to prohibit the operation of any medical cannabis facilities in the City.  

NOW THEREFORE BE IT ORDAINED BY THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, IN KENTON 

COUNTY, KENTUCKY, AS FOLLOWS: 

SECTION 1 

Pursuant to KRS 218B.130, all cannabis business operations as defined in KRS 218B.010 

shall be prohibited within the City of Taylor Mill. 

SECTION 2 

 

Any and all Ordinances in conflict with this Ordinance shall be, and hereby are, repealed 

to the extent of said conflict. 

  

SECTION 3 

 

 If any part of this ordinance or its application is deemed invalid by a court of competent 

jurisdiction, the city council intends that such invalidity will not affect the effectiveness of the 

remaining provisions or applications and, to this end, the provisions of this ordinance are severable. 

 

SECTION 4 

  

That this ordinance shall become effective upon its passage and shall be published under 

KRS 83A.060(9) and other applicable law.  This ordinance may be published by summary. 

  

 Passed by City Commission on ___________________, 2024 

 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY 

       

 
      By:        

                        Mayor Daniel L. Bell 

 

 

ATTEST: 
 

 

_________________________                                                                                      

Kristy Webb, City Clerk 
 

First Reading: 06/12/2024 

Second Reading: ____________ 

Publication: _________________  



 

Page 1 of 8 
 

MUNICIPAL ROAD AID COOPERATIVE 
PROGRAM AGREEMENT 

 

 THIS AGREEMENT, entered into as of the date of the signature below of the 

Secretary of the Transportation Cabinet, is made by and between the Commonwealth of Kentucky, 

Transportation Cabinet, Department of Rural and Municipal Aid (“the Department”), and the 

Legislative Body of the Incorporated City of TAYLOR MILL, Kentucky (the “City”). 

 WHEREAS, Kentucky Revised Statutes (KRS) § 177.365(1) provides that 7.7% of 

revenue resulting from the imposition of motor fuel taxes on taxpayers pursuant to KRS § 

138.220(1)(2), KRS § 138.660(1)(2), and KRS § 234.320 shall be set aside by the Finance and 

Administration Cabinet for the construction, reconstruction, and maintenance of urban roads and 

streets, and for no other purpose (“Municipal Road Aid Funds”), and 

 WHEREAS, the City has accepted an invitation from the Department to allow it to 

participate in a cooperative program to aid the City in the construction, reconstruction, and 

maintenance of certain roads and bridges using its share of the Municipal Road Aid Funds 

apportioned to it by the Department as provided below (the “Cooperative Program”), and 

 NOW THEREFORE, in consideration of the terms and conditions contained herein 

and for other good and valuable consideration, the receipt and sufficiency of which are hereby 

acknowledged, the Department and the City agree as follows: 

1. Apportionment of Municipal Road Aid Funds.  The City’s apportionment of 

Municipal Road Aid Funds shall be based on revenue estimates supplied by the Office of State 

Budget Director.  For the Fiscal Year beginning July 1, 2024, this amount is $150,057.63 (the 

“Apportionment”).  The above referenced estimate is based on the most recent available data and 



 

Page 2 of 8 
 

is subject to change according to available revenue.  The Apportionment shall be distributed by 

the Department to the City in accordance with the terms of this Agreement. 

2. Assignment of the Apportionment.  The City hereby assigns all of its right, title 

and interest in and to the Apportionment to the Transportation Cabinet’s Division of Accounts for 

Fiscal Year 2025. 

3. Distribution of Municipal Road Aid Funds.  The City and the Department agree 

that the Apportionment shall be distributed by the Department to the City as follows: 

a. First Distribution.  The Department shall initially distribute to the City 

sixty percent (60%) of the Apportionment, less three percent (3%) of the Apportionment set aside 

for the emergency fund below. This initial amount is $87,334.00. 

b. Second Distribution.  The Department shall distribute up to and including 

an additional thirty percent (30%) of the Apportionment to the City, less three percent (3%) of the 

Apportionment set aside for the emergency fund below.  The amount of the second distribution 

will depend on how actual revenues compare to revenue estimates. 

c. Final Distribution.  The Department shall allocate and distribute the 

remaining balance of the Apportionment, less three percent (3%) set aside for the emergency fund 

below.  The Final Distribution shall be based on actual revenues tabulated after the end of the fiscal 

year (June 30). 

4. Emergency Fund.  The City agrees that three percent (3%) of the Apportionment 

shall be withheld by the Department in an emergency fund (the “Emergency Fund”).  The 

Emergency Fund shall include three percent (3%) of the total apportionments of all participants in 

the Cooperative Program, plus any remaining balances from previous fiscal years.   The 

Department, upon written application from a duly authorized representative of the City, may 



 

Page 3 of 8 
 

disburse these funds to the City for the purpose of it using said funds for emergency roadway and 

bridge projects designated by the City and lying within city limits.  The Department may disburse 

up to fifty percent (50%) of the approved funds to the City for the purpose of it using said 

funds for emergency roadway and bridge projects designated by the City. Following the 

completion of the project, after final cost documentation has been submitted and processed, the 

Department will then distribute the determined remaining amount. If the actual cost of an 

emergency project is less than the amount of Emergency Funds disbursed by the Department, then 

the City shall reimburse the difference to the Department. 

5. Disbursement of Funds.  Upon execution of this Agreement, the Department will 

disburse the foregoing allocated funds directly to the City to pay for materials, labor and equipment 

necessary for the City to accomplish construction, reconstruction, and maintenance on streets 

designated by the City and lying within city limits.  This assistance is extended insofar as funds 

are available from the Apportionment.  The City shall be responsible for all costs associated with 

the construction, reconstruction and maintenance of roadways and bridges in excess of the amount 

of the Apportionment allocated and disbursed by the Department to the City.  The Department 

may assist the City in fulfilling its needs by disbursing funds to the City for materials and work 

performed by contract, for materials obtained by contract and for the rental or purchase of road 

maintenance and construction equipment.  Any rental rates shall be based on current edition of the 

"Blue Book for Rental of Equipment" or the Department’s official rental rates.  The Department 

may also disburse funds to the City for the hourly rate for personnel who perform the work.  This 

rate may include employee fringe benefits such as leave overlay, retirement, social security, 

insurance, etc. 



 

Page 4 of 8 
 

6. Use of Municipal Road Aid Funds.  The City agrees and certifies that the 

Apportionment will be expended by the City solely for the purpose of construction, reconstruction, 

and maintenance of city streets as defined in KRS § 177.365(4). 

 7. Rights of Way.  The City, if required under applicable law, will acquire any 

rights-of-way contemplated under this Agreement and assumes responsibility for any claims for 

damages arising from such acquisitions. 

 8. Indemnification.  The City shall fully indemnify, hold harmless and defend the 

Department from and against all claims, actions, suits, demands, damages, liabilities, obligations, 

losses, settlements, judgments, costs and expenses (including without limitation reasonable 

attorney‘s fees and costs), whether or not involving a third party claim, which arise out of, relate 

to or result from (a) any breach of any representation or warranty of the City contained in this 

Agreement, (b) any breach of any covenant or other obligation or duty of the City under this 

Agreement or under applicable law, in each case whether or not caused by the negligence of the 

Department and whether or not the relevant claim has merit. 

 9. Reimbursement of Losses.  The City will reimburse the Department for losses it 

may sustain arising out of performance of this Agreement.  Such loss as sustained by the 

Department may be charged to the Apportionment in this or future fiscal years. 

 10. Termination of Agreement.  The Department reserves the right to cancel this 

Agreement at any time deemed to be in the best interest of the Department by giving thirty (30) 

days written notice of such cancellation to the City.  If this Agreement is canceled under this 

provision, then the City will receive any unpaid portion of the Apportionment from the Finance 

and Administration Cabinet. 



 

Page 5 of 8 
 

 11. Access to Records.  The City acknowledges and agrees that pursuant to KRS § 

177.369(3) it shall retain all records of the expenditures of the Apportionment for a period of five 

(5) years and said records, including any books, documents, papers, records, or other evidence, 

which are directly pertinent to this agreement [records and other prequalification information 

confidentially disclosed as part of the bid process shall not be deemed as directly pertinent and 

shall be exempt from disclosure as provided in KRS 61.878(1)(c)], shall be subject to audit by the 

Finance and Administration Cabinet or its duly authorized agent and made accessible by the City 

to the Finance and Administration Cabinet or its duly authorized agent for said period of time in 

order to determine the proper expenditure of said money for the purposes required by KRS § 

177.365(1).  The City also recognizes that any books, documents, papers, records, or other 

evidence received during a financial audit or program review shall be subject to the Kentucky 

Open Records Act, KRS  § 61.870 to KRS § 61.884. 

 12. Authorization.  The Legislative Body of the City shall pass a resolution adopting 

and approving the terms of this Agreement in the form of the resolution attached to this Agreement 

and made a part hereof.  The Chief Executive Officer of the City, and the Commissioner of the 

Department, or their authorized representatives, insofar as their actions are in accord with the laws 

of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, shall act for their respective parties on all matters arising under 

this Agreement. 

 13. Choice of Law and Venue.  All questions as to the execution, validity, 

interpretation, construction and performance of this Agreement shall be governed by the laws of 

the Commonwealth of Kentucky.  Furthermore, the parties hereto agree that any legal action which 

is brought on the basis of this Agreement shall be filed in the Franklin County Circuit Court of the 

Commonwealth of Kentucky. 



 

Page 6 of 8 
 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the undersigned have executed this Agreement as of the dates listed 

below. 

INCORPORATED CITY OF TAYLOR MILL

 

BY: ______________________________    Date: ______________ 

 

 

(For Kentucky Transportation Cabinet use only) 

 

DEPARTMENT OF RURAL AND MUNICIPAL AID 
OFFICE OF RURAL & SECONDARY ROADS 
          
 
 
BY:  ______________________________   Date: ______________       

Commissioner 
 
 
 
APPROVED AS TO FORM AND LEGALITY: 
 
 
 
BY: ________________________________   Date: ______________ 
        Office of Legal Services 
 
 
 
COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY     
TRANSPORTATION CABINET 
 
 
 
BY: ________________________________   Date: ______________ 
 Secretary 

 

 

kwebb
Typewritten Text
Mayor Daniel L. Bell (City of Taylor Mill)

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text



 

Page 7 of 8 
 

R E S O L U T I O N 

Incorporated City of Taylor Mill

Resolution adopting and approving the execution of 
a Municipal Aid Co-op Program Contract between the
City of Taylor Mill and the Commonwealth of Kentucky, 
Transportation Cabinet, Department of Rural and 
Municipal Aid for the fiscal year beginning July 1, 
2024, as provided in the Kentucky Revised Statutes 
and accepting all streets referred to therein as 
being streets which are a part of the Incorporated 
City. 

 

Be it resolved by the Legislative Body of the City of Taylor Mill

that:  

 The Legislative Body of the City of Taylor Mill does hereby 

accept all streets referred to in said Contract as being city 

streets which are a part of the City of Taylor Mill; and 

 The Legislative Body of the City of Taylor Mill does hereby 

ratify and adopt all statements, representations, warranties, 

covenants, and agreements contained in said Contract and does 

hereby accept said Contract and by such acceptance agrees to all 

the terms and conditions therein stated; and 

 The Chief Executive Officer of the said City of Taylor Mill 

is hereby authorized and directed to sign said Contract as set 

forth on behalf of the Legislative Body of, and the City Clerk of 

TAYLOR MILL is hereby authorized and directed to certify thereto. 

kwebb
Typewritten Text
2024-R-383

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text



 

Page 8 of 8 
 

 The vote taken on said Resolution, the result being as 

follows: 

 AYES         NAYS 

______________________________  ____________________________ 

______________________________  ____________________________ 

______________________________  ____________________________ 

______________________________  ____________________________ 

______________________________  ____________________________ 

______________________________  ____________________________ 

COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY            
INCORPORATED CITY OF TAYLOR MILL 
 

 I,                   , City Clerk of TAYLOR MILL certify 

that the foregoing is a true copy of the Order above. Given under 

my hand and seal of office this the ______ day of

________________, 2024. 

 

       SIGNED_________________________ 

      

kwebb
Typewritten Text
Kristy Webb, Clerk of Taylor Mill



  2024-R-384 

RESOLUTION 

OF THE 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL 

 

June 12, 2024 

 
A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY, 

AUTHORIZING THE MAYOR TO MAKE AN APPLICATION FOR AND, 

UPON ARRIVAL, TO ENTER INTO AN AGREEMENT WITH THE 

KENTUCKY HOMELAND SECURITY (KOHS), TO EXECUTE ANY 

DOCUMENTS WHICH ARE DEEMED NECESSARY BY KOHS TO 

FACILITATE AND ADMINISTER THE PROJECT AND TO ACT AS THE 

AUTHORIZED CORRESPONDENT FOR THIS PROJECT  

 

WHEREAS, the City of Taylor Mill, Kenton County, Kentucky, desires to make an application 

for Law Enforcement Protection Program funds for a project to be administered by Kentucky 

Office of Homeland Security.  

WHEREAS, it is recognized that an application for and approval of Kentucky Office of Homeland 

Security funds impose certain obligations and responsibilities upon the City.  

NOW, THEREFORE, be it resolved this 12th day of June 2024, by the City of Taylor Mill, 

Kentucky, Kenton County, Kentucky. 

That Mayor is hereby authorized to execute and finish all required documentation, including a 

memorandum of agreement, as may be required by the KOHS for the furtherance of the above-

referenced project and to act as the authorized correspondent for said project. 

Done this 12th day of June, 2024, on a Motion made by Commissioner _______________ and 

seconded by Commissioner ______________. 

 

The vote taken on said Resolution, the result being as follows: 

 

Commissioner Braden: _____  Commissioner Murray: _____ 

Commissioner Kreimborg: _____  Mayor Bell: _____ 

Commissioner Kuehne: _____ 

 

Signed and adopted this 12th day of June 2024 by the City of Taylor Mill, Kenton County, 

Kentucky. 

__________________________ 

Daniel L. Bell, Mayor 

 

ATTEST: 

__________________________ 

Kristy Webb, City Clerk 



RESOLUTION NO. 385 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY APPROVING 
AN INTERLOCAL COOPERATION AGREEMENT BY AND BETWEEN THE 
CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY AND CERTAIN PUBLIC AGENCIES 
REGARDING THE KENTUCKY BOND CORPORATION. 

WHEREAS, certain public agencies in the Commonwealth of Kentucky have experienced 
and are continuing to experience difficulty in economically funding, financing, or refinancing 
various governmental purposes at reasonable costs; and 

WHEREAS, certain public agencies in the Commonwealth of Kentucky (each, a “Participant” 
and collectively, the “Participants”) have entered into, or will enter into, an Interlocal Cooperation 
Agreement dated as of May 1, 2010, attached hereto as Exhibit A (the “Agreement”), as authorized by 
Sections 65.210 to 65.300, inclusive, of the Kentucky Revised Statutes, as amended (the “Interlocal 
Cooperation Act”), which authorizes public agencies in the Commonwealth of Kentucky to cooperate 
and act jointly in exercising any and all powers, privileges, and authority capable of exercise by such 
public agencies in their respective individual capacities; and 

WHEREAS, under and in accordance with the Agreement, the Participants established (i) 
the Kentucky League of Cities Interlocal Finance Program (the “Program”) to provide a vehicle 
for the funding, financing, and refinancing of various governmental purposes of the Participants, 
and (ii) a nonprofit corporation known as the Kentucky Bond Corporation (the “Corporation”) to 
administer and operate the Program and to issue obligations to provide funds for the Program, all 
in accordance with the Interlocal Cooperation Act; and 

WHEREAS, participation in the Program will benefit the public health, safety, and general 
welfare of the citizens of the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky (the “City”); and 

WHEREAS, in order for the City to become a Participant in the Program, it must enter into 
the Agreement, as prescribed by Section 65.250 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes, as amended, 
which provided for the creation of the Program. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, 
KENTUCKY, AS FOLLOWS: 

Section 1. Affirmation of Preamble. The City hereby finds, determines, and declares 
that all statements of fact and definitions set forth in the preamble to this Resolution are true and 
correct in all respects, and such preamble is hereby incorporated into this Resolution by reference, 
as if set forth at length herein. 

Section 2. Purpose and Authorization. The City hereby finds, determines, and declares 
that entering into the Agreement and the issuance by the Corporation of the obligations described in 
the Agreement are in furtherance of the public purposes and functions of the City and will be in the 
best interest of the citizens of the City. Accordingly, the City is hereby expressly authorized to enter 
into the Agreement to become a Participant in the Program. 

Section 3. Approval of the Agreement. The Agreement by and between the City and the 
Participants is hereby expressly approved by the City in substantially the form set forth in Exhibit A 

kwebb
Typewritten Text
2024-R-385

kwebb
Typewritten Text



attached hereto, which was approved by the Attorney General of the Commonwealth of 
Kentucky, as required by Section 65.260 of the Kentucky Revised Statutes. 

Section 4. Repeal of Conflicting Actions. All ordinances, resolutions, orders, and 
other legislative or administrative actions, or parts thereof, of the City that conflict with the 
provisions of this Resolution are, to the extent of such conflict, hereby repealed. 

Section 5. Effective Date. This Resolution shall become effective immediately upon 
the date of its passage. 

[Signature page to follow] 

2 



SIGNATURE PAGE TO RESOLUTION 

ENACTED AND ADOPTED at a duly convened meeting of the Board of Commissioners 
of the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky this _____________________ , 20__. 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY 

By: _________________________________   
Mayor Daniel L. Bell 

Attest: 

By: _______________________________   
City Clerk 

CERTIFICATION 

I, the undersigned, hereby certify that I am the duly qualified and acting City Clerk of the City 
of Taylor Mill, Kentucky, and as City Clerk, I further certify that the foregoing is a true, correct, and 
complete copy of a Resolution, as appears to me in the official records of the City, duly adopted by 
the Board of Commissioners of the City at a duly convened meeting held on ,  
20__, signed by the Mayor and duly filed, recorded, and indexed in my office and now in full force 
and effect, and that all action taken by the City in connection with the Resolution was in compliance 
with all requirements of the laws of the Commonwealth of Kentucky, all as appears from the 
official records of the City in my possession and under my control. 

IN WITNESS WHEREOF, I have hereunto set my hand this _________________ , 20__. 

City Clerk 

S-1 

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text

kwebb
Typewritten Text



2024-R-386 

 

RESOLUTION 

OF THE 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL 
 

June 12, 2024 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTON COUNTY, 

KENTUCKY TO SPONSOR A PROPOSED TEXT AMENDMENT  
 

 WHEREAS, KRS 100.211(3) provides that a proposal for a text amendment may 

originate with the legislative body; and  

 

 WHEREAS, the Kentucky legislature has authorized cities to regulate medical 

cannabis; and 

 

 WHEREAS, the City Commission l would like PDS staff to research and issue 

recommendations and to move forward with a hearing in front of the Kenton County 

Planning Commission for the regulation of medical cannabis through zoning.  

 

 NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF TAYLOR 

MILL, COUNTY OF KENTON, COMMONWEALTH OF KENTUCKY, THAT: 

 

The City Administrator, as an agent of the City’s legislative body, is authorized to 

apply and propose the following to be studied and set for public hearing pursuant to KRS 

200.211: 

 
Allowing medical cannabis cultivation, processing, producing, and safety 

compliance facilities as permitted uses within all industrial zones. 

 

Allowing medical cannabis dispensaries as a permitted use in all commercial 

zones. 

 

This the 12th day of June, 2024. 

       

      CITY OF TAYLOR MILL 

 

   

      BY: ______________________________ 

              Mayor Daniel L. Bell 

     
     
ATTEST:  ________________________ 

       Kristy Webb, City Clerk 



 

 

2024-R-387 

RESOLUTION 

OF THE 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL 
 

June 12, 2024 
 

A RESOLUTION OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTON COUNTY, 

KENTUCKY, PURSUANT KRS 218B.130(2)(c), DIRECTING THAT THE 

QUESTION OF ALLOWING CANNABIS BUSINESSES TO OPERATE 

WITHIN THE LIMITS OF THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL BE SUBMITTED 

TO THE VOTERS WHO ARE ELIGIBLE TO VOTE IN THE CITY'S 

ELECTIONS AT THE NEXT REGULAR ELECTION.  

WHEREAS, the 2023 Kentucky General Assembly passed KRS 218B.010-.155 relating to 

the production, delivery, and use of medical cannabis by cardholders; and 

WHEREAS, part of that law, specifically KRS 218B.130 (2)(c), allows local governments, 

including the City of Taylor Mill, Kentucky, to enact resolutions directing that the question of 

prohibiting cannabis businesses from operating within its territory be submitted to the voters of its 

territory at the next regular election; and   

WHEREAS, the City of Taylor Mill hereby adopts this resolution pursuant to said statute 

to place the issue before the voters of the City of Taylor Mill to ask: “Are you in favor of the sale 

of medicinal cannabis at a licensed dispensary and the operation of other cannabis businesses in 

the City of Taylor Mill?”; and 

WHEREAS, if the question submitted to the voters passes, medicinal cannabis sales and 

cannabis business operations may be conducted in the City of Taylor Mill, notwithstanding any 

local government ordinances which prohibit all cannabis business operations within its territory; 

and 

WHEREAS, the provisions of general election law shall apply to public questions 

submitted to voters under this Resolution. 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED BY THE CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, 

KENTUCKY, AS FOLLOWS: In accordance with KRS 218B.130(2)(c), the City of Taylor Mill, 

Kentucky directs that the question of prohibiting cannabis businesses from operating within its 

territory be submitted to the voters of its territory at the next regular election, by asking the 

question: “Are you in favor of the sale of medicinal cannabis at a licensed dispensary and the 

operation of other cannabis businesses in the City of Taylor Mill?” 



 

 

This resolution shall become effective upon passage as required by law.  

The vote taken on said Resolution, the result being as follows: 

        AYES       NAYS 

________________________________  ________________________________ 

________________________________  ________________________________ 

________________________________  ________________________________ 

________________________________  ________________________________ 

________________________________  ________________________________ 

 

This Resolution passed by a vote of the Council ____ in favor, and ____ against. 

Introduced and enacted on June 12, 2024.  

 

CITY OF TAYLOR MILL, KENTUCKY 

 

 

 

By: ________________________________ 

Daniel L. Bell, Mayor 

 

 

 

ATTEST: 

 

 

__________________________           

Kristy Webb, City Clerk 

 

 



 
 

TREASURER 

REPORT 
































	2024.06.12 June Commission Meeting Agenda Draft 12June2024
	MINUTES Divider
	2024.05.08 Commission Meeting Minutes 8May2024
	2024.05.22 Caucus Meeting Minutes 22May2024
	LEGISLATION Divider
	ORD394~1
	Ordinance 396 - Budget Adoption FY24-25 with attachment
	Ordinance 396 - Budget Adoption FY24-25 wo attachment
	Ordinance 396 - Budget Adoption FY24-25 attachment

	Ordinance 397 - Nuisance and Penalties Amendment
	Ordinance 398 - Prohibiting Medical Cannabis Facilities
	Resolution 383 - Municipal Road Aid Cooperative Agreement 2025
	RESOLU~2
	Resolution 385 Interlocal Cooperation Agreement with KLC for bonding
	Resolution 386 - Medical Marijuana Text Amendment
	REF03B~1
	TREASURER Divider
	Treasurer - June 2024 Monthly Report



